# STATE OF WISCONSIN RECEIVED COURT OF APPEALS 03-25-2013 DISTRICT I

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS
Case No. 2012AP002547 - CR OF WISCONSIN

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

MICHAEL L CRAMER,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND SENTENCE ENTERED IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR MILWAUKEE COUNTY HONORABLE KEVIN E. MARTENS, PRESIDING, AND AN ORDER DENYING POSTCONVICTION RELIEF ENTERED IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR MILWAUKEE COUNTY, THE HONORABLE JEFFREY WAGNER, PRESIDING

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

Patricia A. FitzGerald State Bar Number 1015179 229 North Grove Street Mt. Horeb, WI 53572 (608) 437-4859

Attorney for Michael L. Cramer

#### **ISSUES PRESENTED**

I. Is Michael Cramer entitled to an evidentiary hearing because his postconviction motion alleged sufficient basis to support a claim that the State presented demonstrably false and misleading testimony at trial that violated Mr. Cramer's right to due process.

The circuit court answered: No.

II. Is Michael Cramer entitled to a *Machner* hearing because his postconviction motion made a sufficient showing that trial counsel was ineffective.

The circuit court answered: No.

III. Is Michael Cramer entitled to a new trial in the interest of justice.

The circuit court answered: No.

# POSITION ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

The briefs of the parties should fully present the issues on appeal and develop the relevant theories and legal authorities. Therefore, the defendant-appellant does not believe oral argument is necessary.

Publication is not requested.

#### STATEMENT OF CASE

February 21, 2009, complaint filed charging Michael L. Cramer with abuse of a child.(2).

February 27, 2009, following a waiver of the preliminary hearing, Cramer was bound over for trial. The information was filed and Cramer pled not guilty.(53: 3).

January 7, 2010, amended information filed charging Cramer with first degree reckless homicide.(17).

April 2, 2010, Cramer pled not guilty to amended charge. (60: 2).

April 26, 2010, second amended charge of first degree reckless homicide alleging behavior occurred on February 17, 2009 and death September 1, 2009. Cramer pled not guilty.(23;61 3).

April 26-30, 2010, jury trial. 60,61,62,63,64, 65, 66, 67, 68)

April 30, 2010, Cramer found guilty.(68: 5;29)

June 15, 2010, Cramer was sentenced to ten years nine months confinement and eight years nine months extended supervision, the Honorable Kevin Martens presiding.(37; 69: 64).

September 4, 2012, Cramer filed a timely motion for postconviction relief.(43).

November 2, 2012, Cramer denied postconviction relief, the Honorable Jeffrey Wagner presiding. (49).

November 19, 2012, Cramer filed a timely notice of appeal.(50).

#### **FACTS**

On February 17, 2009, Michael Cramer called 911 to report his two month old son was non-responsive. (63:35) Emergency Medical personnel arrived a short time later and found Matthew Cramer to be a pulse-less non-breather. (Id). They were able to resuscitate Matthew to get a heart beat and transferred him to Wisconsin Children's Hospital where he was placed on life support. (63:38, 127) Matthew died on September 1, 2009, when he was removed from life support. (63:127).

The EMTs made no notation of any evidence of trauma on Matthew's body.(65:110) However, Fire Captain Stephanie Hampton, who arrived while EMTs were working on Matthew testified that she saw bruises on Matthew's upper body and leg.(63:37,44). Nevertheless, she did not document that in any report.(65:109).

# Michael Cramer's explanation to police

While Matthew was taken to the hospital, Michael Cramer was taken to the police department where he told police his version of what had happened. He said that he had been in living room on couch with Matthew when Matthew became fussy. (63:175). Cramer fixed bottle for the child Matthew was still fussy so Cramer fixed second bottle. (Id). The baby took half of the second bottle and

was still fussy.(Id). Cramer tried to burp Matthew on his knee but Matthew did not burp.(Id). Cramer laid Matthew on couch face down and went to take shower.(Id). He returned ten to fifteen minutes later.(63:176). Matthew was still lying on couch face down; Cramer sat down next to him and used his hand to move Matthew over. (63:177). Matthew seemed unconscious.(Id.) Cramer took hold of Matthew; Matthew was limp - there was no muscle tone. (Id.) Cramer looked for respirations at his chest but did not see any.(Id.) He detected a faint heart beat.(Id). He started CPR - pinching the child's nose and blowing into his mouth while administering chest compressions with a hand just below the chest and just above diaphragm (Id) At one point formula came out of Matthew's mouth.(63:178). Cramer did eight compressions before he called 911.(Id.) He was told to continue CPR.(63:73).

Detective Ronald Taylor arrested Cramer because Taylor was in communication with doctors at the hospital who said Matthew's injuries were inconsistent with Cramer's story.(63:66)

Detectives confronted Cramer about the fact that doctors said there had been trauma to Matthew.(63:73) Cramer said the only thing that he could think of was that he tried to arouse Matthew when he found him not breathing and unresponsive and then he started CPR.(63: 73-74).

## Dr. Thomas Valvano's testimony

While at the Wisconsin Children's Hospital, Matthew was seen by Dr. Thomas Volvano, a child abuse pediatrician(64:17) While the EMT record and the Emergency Room record do not mention any external signs of trauma, Dr. Valvano testified that he saw bruises on Matthew's left arm and around his left knee. (Valvano Tr. 64: 83). Other than that, there is no suggestion that Matthew had any external signs of injury and at the time of autopsy had no signs of fractures (Tlomak 65: 33).

Although, Matthew had no evidence of external injury on his skull and there were no bruises or abrasions, on his skull or neck, Dr. Valvano opined that Matthew had sustained abusive head trauma which was the result of infliction of significant force - not the result of accidental injury.((Valvano 64:87, 57).

According to Dr. Valvano, the CT scan showed Matthew had bilateral (both sides of his brain). subdural hemorrhages over the front part of his brain.(Id. 39). Valvano said Matthew had small subarachnoid hemorrhaging in the back of his head.(Id. 42). Valvano explained that bridging veins that leave the brain and pierce through the dura can break and cause bleeding into the arachnoid. (Id).

According to Dr. Valvano, an MRI performed a few days later showed swelling in the brain, small petechial hemorrhages<sup>1</sup> within the brain tissue itself, and abnormal intensity around the brain stem.(Id. 44-45). According to Valvano Matthew also had extensive retinal hemorrhages in both eyes throughout the retina in front and behind the retinal extending all the way out to the edge of the retina.(Id. 54, 55).

Dr. Valvano said that there was, at the base of the neck where the back begins, a swelling and an extra dural collection of blood - a very focal injury which was according to Valvano, another example of trauma.(Id.

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Pinpoint bleeds (Id. 50).

Dr. Valvano testified that the injuries seen on Matthew resulted from rotational acceleration, deceleration kinds of forces.(Id. 65,69). Valvano described those forces as moving the baby's head through an arc—

"because someone throws the baby down or throws the baby across the room or bangs the baby's head against something or hits the baby's head against a soft cushion or shakes the baby or a combination of those things, the head moves back and forth."

(Id. 65-66).

Dr. Valvano also said that the force from the movement through the arc

"stretches the bridging veins ... so that the brain is twisting around inside the skull those veins stretch and break and then bleed into the spaces around the outside of the brain.

"And this injury to the brain affects the entire brain, and that is why we see the damage to the brain throughout the brain bilaterally, and that's why we see the hemorrhages not jut in one little area but on both sides of the brain."

(Id. 67-68).

Dr. Valvano testified that the force also affected the eyes.

"As the eye is moving, that vitreous pulls away from the retina, and we think that that's what causes those retinal hemorrhages. And when you look at the pattern of retinal hemorrhages that Matthew had, those hemorrhages that are all the way out to the periphery, very extensive, you only see that pattern of retinal hemorrhages in either abusive head trauma-- and it's highly associated with abusive head trauma -- or in certain specific cases of severe accidental trauma. For

example, fatal motor vehicle accidents.

"So infants and children who have been involved in fatal motor vehicle accidents have been shown to have a similar pattern of extensive retinal hemorrhages as infants subjected to abusive head trauma.

"And you can imagine why that's the case because in a fatal motor vehicle accident you also have that same kind of acceleration deceleration forces going on.

"We also in this case saw trauma to Matthew's neck, which is again consistent with this sort of hyper-extension flexion of the neck during these acceleration deceleration forces.

"And so all of that picture fits together, and the only unifying diagnosis for that, for all of these injuries is trauma and specifically this type of rotational trauma, rotational trauma to the head. And that really explains all of Matthew's various injuries."

(Id 68 -69).

Indeed, Dr. Valvano opined that Matthew was a classic case of abusive head trauma because he had "extensive diffuse brain injury, this particular pattern of retinal hemorrhages, these bilateral subdural hemorrhages." (Id. 70). According to Valvano, his injuries could not have been caused by an accidental fall. (Id:74). He justified that conclusion by pointing out that accidental falls had been studied extensively in hospitals. (Id. 74-75). According to Valvano, any accidental injury would be focal and limited to the area of impact and would not give the bilateral subdural hemorrhages or diffuse brain injury that Matthew had. (Id.75).

With regard to the fact that Matthew had no external signs of trauma on his head Dr. Valvano

asserted,

"That does not mean that there was no impact against, for example, a cushion like a mattress or a sofa cushion or a chair cushion, and they won't leave external signs of injury necessarily. But that's still a force from sudden deceleration that gets transmitted to the brain and that injures the brain even though it leaves no external signs of injury."

(Id. 89).

On cross examination, Dr. Valvano denied that there was any real dispute that shaking a baby could cause abusive head trauma.

There is no controversy outside of the courtroom. The American Academy of pediatrics, pediatricians, neurosurgeons, it's well accepted that violently shaking a baby causes injury to that baby. And outside of a few limited numbers of physicians, most of whom appear as defense witnesses, there is really no controversy.

(64: 91).

When asked about biomedical modeling research showing the amount of forced needed to injure the a child's brain, Dr. Valvano dismissed the biomedical modeling as being very crude.(Id. 93).

Dr. Valvano testified that it takes significant violent force to cause traumatic brain injury to children but we can not put a number on it.(Id. 95).

## Dr. Wieslawa Tlomak's testimony

The state also presented the testimony of Dr. Wieslawa Tlomak, who works at the Milwaukee County Medical Examiner's Office.(Tlomak: Id. 104).

Dr. Tlomak performed an autopsy on Matthew Cramer on September 2, 2009, about six- and- a- half months after Matthew collapsed .(Tlomak 65:5). Tlomak opined that the cause of Matthew's death was a complication of blunt force injuries of the head.(Id. 6).

Dr. Tlomak asserted that the fact that she performed the autopsy several months after Matthew was injured did not interfere in any way with her assessment as to the cause of death.(Id. 7).

In discussing changes she saw to Matthew's brain, Dr. Tlomak testified,

"This changes(sic) that I just described were due to hypoxic ischemic brain injury. And what this means there was low oxygen level, and there was not blood flowing to the brain, and that's why I saw those changes in autopsy.

"There were additional changes and those changes were located almost in the center of the brain. It was dilatation of the ventricular system of the brain, and also white matter was significant loss in white matter.

"And the appearance of white matter was different. It was no longer white. It was gray and gliotic. It almost look(sic) like scar tissue.

"And those findings were secondary to traumatic brain injury that is called diffuse axonal brain injury"

(Id. 16).

# Dr. Tlomak opined that,

"The amount of force required to cause this type of injuries is very large. I cannot exactly give you the number, but this type of injuries – this type of injuries can occur during a high speed motor vehicle accidents or falling from high buildings."

(Id.25).

Dr. Tlomak further testified that "[there were multiple studies done that showed falling from at least the third floor...can cause this type of injuries(sic)."(Id. 26). Tlomak asserted that "falling from the short distance of two, three, four feet will not cause a severe brain injury. So it would still be non-accidental injury, blunt force injury."(Id.).

Dr. Tlomak concluded that the cause of death was homicide.(Id. 27).

#### Dr. Thomas Young's testimony

Mr. Cramer presented the testimony of Dr. Thomas Young, a forensic pathologist, who opined that Matthew's "death is complications of hypoxic ischemic encephalopathy due to an apparent life threatening event. In other words, resuscitated Sudden Death Syndrom. The manner of death is natural." (Young: Id.: 41, 53-54).

Dr. Young explained that if the heart stops and breathing stops from SIDS and if someone gets there early enough and starts CPR they may be able to get the heart going again(Id.57). However, the problem is in resuscitation cases there is usually very severe brain damage and outcomes are not good.(Id:57-58). When the blood flow to the brain stops, brain tissue death occurs.(Id.) When blood flow resumes, as with resuscitation, blood vessels in the brain will leak. (Id. 57-58). This can cause intradural and subdural hemorrhaging.(Id:58). In autopsy may see blood all along neuroaxes of brain and spinal cord.(Id. 59). Subdural hemorrhaging is not always due to trauma.(Id).This process can also the brain to swell.(Id. 60).

Dr. Young reviewed the police reports of Michael Cramer's version of what had occurred and opined that Cramer's account was entirely consistent with Young's opinion that Matthew was a resuscitated SIDs death.(Id. 61).

Young noted that the EMT's did not note any evidence of trauma on Matthew.(Id. 62). Further the emergency room doctor said did not he did not see injuries on child except those resulting from resusitative efforts.(Id. 63).

#### State's Rebuttal

On rebuttal, the state recalled Dr. Tlomak, who testified that Matthew could not have died as a result of hypoxia-ischemia because in the autopsy she found evidence of trauma i.e.,

"..in addition to subdural hemorrhage, subarachnoid hemorrhage, arachnoid hemorrhage and changes in the white matter that include loss of white matter.

There is a part of the brain that is called corpus callosum which connects both cerebral hemispheres, and this part was very thin, And also in the center of the brain there are ventricles which are cavernous chambers that are connected, and there were very dilated.

(66: 15-16).

According to Dr. Tlomak, if Matthew had died as a result of hypoxia-ischemia, there would not have been the loss of white matter, dilation of the veins or a thin corpus callosum.(Id: 17).

Dr. Tlomak further testified that she had performed an autopsy on a resuscitated SIDS baby and

that child the brain was "just a little bit swollen, there was no subdural hemorrhage, no subarachnoind hemorrhage and no retinal hemorrhage.(Id. 18).

To support her claim that children who died as a result of hypoxia-ischemia did not exhibit subdural hemorrhages, Dr. Tlomak cited a study performed by Dr. Geddes, in which according to Tlomak, Geddes found only microscopic evidence for subdural hemorrhages in such children; Tlomak said Matthew's bleeding was not microscopic.(Id. 19).

Dr. Tlomak disagreed with Dr. Young that the blood seen on the Matthew's spine was due to gravity, she concluded that it was the result of trauma.(Id. 21-22).

To counter Dr. Young's thesis that Matthew's brain swelled as a result of hypoxia-ischemia due to being resuscitated, Tlomak testified that the CT scan taken approximately 1.5 hours after resuscitation did not reflect significant brain swelling.(Id. 24, 25)

During the entire trial, there was no evidence to inform the jury that if Matthew had been subjected to an inflicted or accidental head trauma, it would be impossible to determine when the injury occurred, because of the possibility of a lucid period between the time of injury and the time of collapse. Neither Doctors Valvano nor Tlomak testified about when the injury must have occurred.

Mr. Cramer filed a postconviction motion alleging that Volvano's and Tlomak's testimony was at best misleading and in several cases demonstrably false; that trial counsel was ineffective and that the trial court should grant a new trial in the interest of justice because the real controversy had not been fully tried.(43)

#### Dr. John Plunkett's report

Cramer moved for postconviction relief, attaching a report by Dr. John Plunkett, a board certified forensic pathologist licensed in Wisconsin and Minnesota.(Ap. A 108-123). The postconviction motion and Dr. Plunkett's report outlined several areas where the medical literature directly contradicts the testimony of Doctors Valvano and Tlomak.

Dr. Plunkett also discussed the problem of pinpointing the time frame in which an injury had occurred even if one accepts Drs Valvano and Tlomak's theory that Matthew had incurred a traumatic head injury.(43: 30)(Ap. A 109)

Further, Dr. Plunkett challenged the accuracy of Dr. Valvano's and Dr. Tlomak's testimony.

a. Dr. Valvano's suggestion that the small subarachnoid hemorrhage was caused by rupturing of the bridging veins was almost certainly incorrect because it is highly unlikely that bridging vein rupture causes small-volume subdural hematoma seen in Matthew.(43:31)(Ap. A 110).

b. Dr. Valvano and Dr. Tlomak's conclusions that the mass of blood located on the cervical spine was caused by trauma is incorrect. The margins of this mass are well defined, indicating that the area of enhancement is within a defined anatomical structure, such as a

venous varix or venous plexus. (The anterior extradural spinal cord has a prominent venous plexus, which when engorged, become easily identifiable on MR scan.) This MR finding is not secondary to trauma, but is most likely a consequence of venous shunting secondary to intracranial pathology, or slow or stagnant venous flow.(43:30)(Ap. A 109).

c. Dr. Valvano's testimony that Matthew's brain injuries were caused by rotational acceleration/deceleration forces to the brain is incorrect. Dr. Valvano was implying that Matthew was shaken. Matthew had no evidence of shaking or impact injury. However, even if impact caused Matthew's head injury the mechanism was deformation, not angular acceleration. There is no experimental evidence that shaking can cause brain damage in an infant, although shaking may cause significant and potentially fatal neck damage. While it is possible at least theoretically to shake an infant violently to cause cervical spinal cord damage, cessation of breathing and death. However, scientific studies indicate that it is not possible to shake an infant hard enough to cause a concussion, SDH, or traumatic brain injury (TBI).

(Neuroscientists often refer to TBI as diffuse axonal injury, or DAI.) Studies published in the peer-reviewed scientific literature have shown that shaking a ten-pound surrogate produces a maximum acceleration approximately ten times the acceleration due to gravity, or 10 g's. The concussion threshold for a 3-month-old infant is 50 g's. Shaking achieves maximum brain acceleration well below any established brain injury threshold.

Shaking is unlikely to cause brain damage. However, it could cause other injuries at levels considerably below the brain injury threshold. A person "shaking" a 3-month-old infant such as Matthew would have to exert a large quantifiable force to the chest or arms in order to accelerate the head at 10 g's. This force is likely to causes skin bruises or fractures. Matthew had no evidence for arm or chest injuries.

If the head is unrestrained and free to move, and a person or an object applies a force (acceleration; "shake") to the thorax or arms, the head will move. The force is transmitted through the neck to cause the head motion (impulsive loading). The neck fails structurally at acceleration considerably lower

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