RECEIVED

05-29-2013

STATE OF WISCONSIN

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS COURT OF APPEAL OF WISCONSIN

DISTRICT I

Case No. 2012AP2547-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

MICHAEL L. CRAMER,

Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND AN ORDER DENYING POSTCONVICTION RELIEF ENTERED IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR MILWAUKEE COUNTY, HONORABLE KEVIN E. MARTENS, PRESIDING AT TRIAL; HONORABLE JEFFREY A. WAGNER, PRESIDING AT POSTCONVICTION STAGE

BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

J.B. VAN HOLLEN Attorney General

DANIEL J. O'BRIEN **Assistant Attorney General** State Bar #1018324

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

tracranial injury, and confirm recent studies showing immediate onset of symptoms in children who sustain primary head injury. A history in which the child initially was behaving completely normally and only later developed symptoms is, therefore, unlikely.

Suzanne P. Starling, M.D., et al., *Analysis of Perpetrator Admissions to Inflicted Traumatic Brain Injury in Children*, 158 Archives of Pediatric and Adolescent Medicine 454, 456-57 (May 2004) (footnotes omitted). "In sum, lucid intervals are extremely uncommon following devastating head injury." John E.B. Myers, Myers on Evidence of Interpersonal Violence, Child Maltreatment, Intimate Partner Violence, Rape, Stalking and Elder Abuse, § 4.14[E], p. 340 (5th ed. 2011).

Dr. Plunkett's bald assertion in his letter to Cramer's postconviction counsel that "it is not possible to determine when the injury occurred" (A-Ap. 109) is, to put it diplomatically, misleading. It is contrary to virtually every credible authority on the matter. It is even contrary to Plunkett's own 2001 study revealing that lucid intervals are rare and last only a matter of minutes or a few hours in most cases. John Plunkett, M.D., *Fatal Pediatric Head Injuries Caused by Short-Distance Falls*, 22 Am. J. Forensic Med. Pathology 1 (2001). Nowhere in his report does Plunkett define when a child is "lucid," what is an "interval," and what constitutes a "lucid interval." Be that as it may, Plunkett's report plainly reveals that to the extent they occur at all, lucid intervals are normally brief.

Plunkett's 2001 study of 75,000 children injured after falling from playground equipment included 114 fatalities, of which 18 fatalities were from head injuries after short falls. The 18 fatalities ranged in age from one year to thirteen years. *Id.* at 2-3. There were no infants like Matthew in his study. Plunkett found that 12 of the 18 fatalities involved a lucid interval. But of the children aged three years or younger who died, the lucid intervals were no more than *fifteen minutes*. Of the seven children who died in falls from swings, five had no lucid interval at

all and the other two had lucid intervals of ten minutes. *Id.* at 3. A four-year-old who fell off a ladder reportedly had a lucid interval of 3 hours. The only lucid intervals beyond three hours were an eight-year-old who fell off a retaining wall (twelve plus hours) and a seven-year-old who fell off a horizontal ladder (48 hours). *Id.*⁴

This expert testimony would not help Cramer. There is no dispute that Cramer was alone with Matthew for close to three hours before the "911" call at 11:56 a.m. He was alone with Matthew (and the other small child) all morning from 8:30 a.m. on. Plunkett's own study, though of limited value because it did not include infants, would nonetheless support the state's theory that Cramer and no one else injured Matthew in those hours he was alone with Matthew. Moreover, there was no evidence at trial, and there is no evidence offered in Cramer's motion, to indicate that anyone injured Matthew accidentally or intentionally before 8:30 a.m., during the night before, or in the preceding 48 hours. There was no evidence Matthew fell, or was dropped, in the minutes, hours or days preceding the "911" call.

Again, because Matthew was only two-and-a-half months old, he could not injure himself as a four- or eight-year-old might by falling off a swing or ladder. Someone had to do something to Matthew – intentionally, recklessly or accidentally -- to cause these injuries. Cramer offers nothing to show that anyone other than himself injured Matthew in the minutes and hours before he found

⁴ Plunkett's report undercuts Cramer's naked assertion, at p. 41 of his brief, that there could have been a "lucid interval of up to 72 hours." Again, the longest interval in Plunkett's study was 48 hours (for a seven-year-old); the next longest was 12 plus hours (for an eight-year-old); the next three hours (for a four-year-old). Plunkett, at 3. Moreover, all of the children in Plunkett's study fell off playground equipment. There was no history that Matthew ever fell, was dropped or thrown from anywhere (64:26-30). Cramer never claimed that Matthew fell in his presence or rolled off the couch where Cramer left him while he showered.

Matthew lifeless on the couch after leaving him there healthy and fully alive just 15-20 minutes earlier.

Finally, Cramer was the one who admitted to tossing and playing "too hard" with Matthew during the morning. Cramer was alone with him and four-year-old "CC" when Matthew fussed, cried, needed to be fed and would not burp. Cramer was the one who claimed to have put a healthy and normal Matthew on a sofa only to find him in the same position lifeless 15-20 minutes later. Cramer was the only one who apologized to Candice for whatever it was he did to Matthew and the only one who promised never to let it happen again.

There is no reasonable probability of a different outcome because, with respect to the cause of death, Plunkett's testimony would have added little to what was presented by Dr. Young. Plunkett's testimony would have done little to overcome the persuasive force of the state's experts, the only doctors who examined Matthew firsthand. The jury rejected Young's opinion based on the powerful circumstantial and medical evidence presented by the state. All other aspects of Plunkett's proffered testimony were beside the point as they had no relevance to the SIDS defense. The lucid interval testimony would have contradicted the chosen defense theory that no one inflicted injury on Matthew; he died of SIDS. There is no reason to believe the jury would have acquitted had Plunkett testified in addition to, or instead of, Dr. Young.

C. Defense counsel competently challenged the opinions of the state's experts.

Cramer laments that Attorney Hart did not do enough to expose the "scientific flaws" in the testimony of the state's experts. Cramer's brief at 39. This challenge is utterly baseless.

1. Deficient performance.

As discussed above, counsel challenged the "shaken baby syndrome" (shaking without impact) concept on cross-examination and got both of the state's experts to admit this is a controversial diagnosis when impact is not involved; they favor the more encompassing diagnosis of "abusive head trauma."

Cramer complains that Hart failed to challenge the impression left by the testimony of the state's doctors that "only doctors who act as defense witnesses" dispute the existence of SBS. Id. That is, however, essentially true. See Myers, Myers on Evidence of Interpersonal Violence, § 4.14[C], pp. 325-26 ("[t]he weight of evidence suggests that shaking alone is sometimes sufficient to cause devastating injury and death"). See also id. at p. 324; n.320 at pp. 330-32; and [E] at 338-40 (noting medical experts severely critical of Plunkett's articles over the years regarding short falls and lucid intervals). Almost all medical experts agree infants do not suffer this constellation of injuries from short falls. Almost all agree symptoms would appear almost immediately upon infliction of this constellation of injuries. Experts are especially strong in their criticism of Plunkett's shaky conclusion that a short fall can cause this constellation of injuries. Id. [B], p. 324); Sandeep Narang, M.D., J.D., A Daubert Analysis of Abusive Head Trauma/Shaken Baby Syndrome, 11 Hous. J. of Health L. and Pol'y 505, 574-76 (Summer 2011).⁵ See Brandon M. Togioka, M.D., et al.,

(footnote continued)

⁵ As mentioned above, recent authors and cases have cited "a shift in mainstream medical opinion" against the validity of AHT as a medical diagnosis. Other proffers have included: "[a]nd as technology and scientific methodology advanced, researchers questioning the basis for SBS reached a critical mass." There is but one simple question for these assertions: Where is the evidence/data for these assertions (other than the opinions of known defense experts)?

Retinal Hemorrhages and Shaken Baby Syndrome: An Evidence-Based Review, 37 Journal of Emergency Medicine 98-106 (2009) (retinal hemorrhages "are common in abused children and exceedingly rare in cases of accidental head injury." *Id.* at 103). The survey all but rules out accidental causes of eye hemorrhaging such as: short falls, seizures, coughs and vomiting, efforts to resuscitate or birth trauma. The more severe the retinal

Rather than respond in like, with unsupported generalizations, this author will simply cite, with supporting, verifiable references, the various international and domestic medical organizations that have publicly acknowledged the validity of AHT as a medical diagnosis:

- 1) The World Health Organization
- 2) The Royal College of Pediatrics and Child Health
- 3) The Royal College of Radiologists
- 4) The Royal College of Ophthalmologists
- 5) The Canadian Paediatric Society
- 6) The American Academy of Pediatrics
- 7) The American Academy of Ophthalmology
- 8) The American Association for Pediatric Ophthalmology and Strabismus
- 9) The American College of Radiology
- 10) The American Academy of Family Physicians
- 11) The American College of Surgeons
- 12) The American Association of Neurologic Surgeons
- 13) The Pediatric Orthopedic Society of North America
- 14) The American College of Emergency Physicians
- 15) The American Academy of Neurology

While it is certainly true that the public promulgations of the various international and domestic medical societies are not representative of each and every member of that society, it is safe to conclude they are representative of the majority of its members. The notable subspecialties that have some discord amongst their members are pathologists (represented by the National Association of Medical Examiners) and biomechanical engineers.

11 Hous. J. of Health L. and Pol'y, at 574-76 (footnotes omitted).

hemorrhaging, the more severe the neurological damage and the more likely there is subdural bleeding. *Id.* at 102-04.

In a study of seventeen cases from 2002-07 in Michigan where perpetrators confessed to abusing the child, retinal hemorrhages were found in 94 percent of the cases, and severe hemorrhaging in both eyes was found in 65 percent. Edward A. Margolin, M.D., et al., *Prevalence* of Retinal Hemorrhages in Perpetrator-Confessed Cases of Abusive Head Trauma, 128 Archives of Ophthalmology 795 (June 2010). James R. Gill, M.D., et al., Fatal Head Injury in Children Younger Than 2 Years in New York City and an Overview of the Shaken Baby Syndrome, 133 Archives of Pathology & Laboratory Med. 619-27 (April 2009) (empirical study of infant deaths supports theory of shaking without impact: "an infant who presents with a traumatic brain injury, where there is no history of any preceding accidental injury, is highly suspicious for nonaccidental injury." Id. at 626. When an infant child presents with the triad of injuries without impact evidence, and the caregiver admits to shaking, "[w]hiplash shaking without impact is the cause of death of this subset of infant homicides." *Id.*). Also see Catherine Adamsbaum, M.D., et al., Abusive Head Trauma: Judicial Admissions Highlight Violent and Repetitive Shaking, 126 Pediatrics 546-55, No. 3 (Sept. 2010).

Attorney Hart challenged on cross-examination and through Dr. Young the opinion testimony of the state's experts that violently impacting Matthew's head on a sofa cushion could have caused these injuries (64:88-89). Cramer complains, nonetheless, that Hart did not also establish the state's testimony "defied the laws of physics." Cramer's brief at 39. Nowhere in his motion or brief does Cramer explain what those "laws of physics" are or how they were violated. Attorney Hart directly challenged abusive head trauma as the cause of death. Every indication is that, due to the unique and fragile nature of an infant -- the disproportionate size of his head, the undeveloped neck muscles and the not yet fully

formed brain, infliction of these injuries by violent shaking with or without impact does not defy the laws of physics even assuming it would if the injuries were to an adult or an older child falling on a playground.

Cramer does not like that Dr. Valvano testified biomechanical modeling in this area is "very crude" and he faults counsel for not challenging that answer. He complains that Valvano's answer "undercut" Hart's line of questioning. Cramer's brief at 39-40. This ignores the fact that, in his next breath, Valvano acknowledged that everyone is still learning as modeling becomes "more sophisticated" (64:93-94). Cramer then points to sophisticated biomechanical modeling used to set standards for "sports helmets, motor vehicles, playground equipment, playground surfaces," and the like. Cramer's brief at 40 (relying on Plunkett's letter to counsel, A-Ap. 117).

As far as anyone knows, Matthew was not playing football or baseball with a helmet, swinging on playground equipment or was involved in a motor vehicle crash at any point in his brief two-and-a-half months on earth. Biomechanical modeling with regard to infant head trauma from suspected violent abuse will always be problematic no matter how sophisticated for the obvious reason that one cannot experiment by swinging or shaking a live infant. Cramer nowhere explains in his motion or brief what helpful biomechanical models with respect to infant head trauma are out there that Attorney Hart should have introduced at trial. To the extent Dr. Valvano's answer "undercut" Hart's line of questioning, Cramer's complaint is not with his attorney; it is with Valvano who gave an answer he does not like.

2. Prejudice.

There is no reasonable probability of a different outcome if Plunkett or someone like him testified on these points. The supposed "scientific flaws" in the testimony of the state's experts concerned matters tangential to the central issue of cause of death: whether a small cadre of hired defense experts disputes the existence of shaken baby syndrome; whether causing these injuries by hitting the infant's head on a sofa "defies the laws of physics"; or whether biomechanical modeling is "crude" or "sophisticated."

The state's experts opined that Matthew died from inflicted abusive head trauma, not just by shaking, so the SBS "controversy" was not central to the state's case. The issue whether Matthew could have suffered these severe internal injuries without evidence of external injury was fully explored at trial through Dr. Young and on cross-examination of the state's experts. There was, however, evidence of external trauma in the form of the bruises to Matthew's leg and upper body observed by the first responders. The fact remains, as the trial court found, there was no evidence that Matthew "sustained any prior head traumas in his short life or that he was anything other than a normal, healthy baby prior to February 17, 2009" (49:3; A-Ap. 106).

Had Attorney Hart directly challenged Drs. Valvano and Tlomak by asking whether their opinions violate "the laws of physics," or are contrary to contemporary biomechanical modeling with regard to infant head trauma, their answers would have been a resounding "no." Had Hart asked whether their diagnosis of abusive head trauma -- based as it was on this constellation of severe brain and eye injuries, the suspicious bruising, and the history of good health and no accidental trauma in Matthew's short life -- would be the vast majority of pediatricians, diagnosis of the neurologists and pathologists, their answer would have been a resounding "yes."

A court must be vigilant against the skewed perspective that may result from hindsight, and it may not second-guess counsel's performance solely because the defense proved unsuccessful. *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 689; *see also State v. Harper*, 57 Wis. 2d 543, 556-57, 205 N.W.2d 1 (1973) ("In

considering alleged incompetency of counsel, one should not by hindsight reconstruct the ideal defense.").

State v. Balliette, 336 Wis. 2d 358, ¶ 25.

The trial court properly denied Cramer's motion without an evidentiary hearing because all his motion has shown is that the defense strategy selected by trial counsel failed; not that it was unreasonable.

II. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY HELD THE STATE DID NOT KNOWINGLY USE FALSE EXPERT TESTIMONY.

Cramer blithely challenges the prosecutor's personal integrity and ethics, accusing him of *knowingly* presenting *false* testimony at trial. This argument is utterly devoid of merit for two reasons: (1) it was forfeited when Cramer did not object; and (2) it involved nothing more than a "garden variety" disagreement among medical experts.

A. Cramer forfeited this claim by not objecting.

Cramer forfeited this argument by not objecting when the prosecutor supposedly introduced false expert testimony.

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